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%%I'@A U.S. DI RICT JUDGE

On May 29, 2018, Plaintiff Darlene Sullivan (“Plaintiff”) filed a complaint agai
Defendant Hanover Foods Corporation (“Defendant”) alleging violations &f Yitlof the 1964
Civil Rights Act (“Title VII") and the Delaware Discrimination in Employment Act €th
DDEA"). (D.l. 1). Plaintiff later added claims under the Family and N&dieave Act
(“the FMLA"). (D.l. 57, 61, 62)' Pending before the Court is Defendant’s motion for summary
judgment (“Motion”). (D.l. @)). For the reasons set forth below, Defendant’'s Motion is
GRANTED-IN-PART and DENIEBIN-PART.

l. BACKGROUND

This case stems from a series of disputes between an employee and her employer. From
June 2014 until December 28, 2017, Plairtiffith two gaps- was an employee at Defendant’s
production facility in Clayton, Delaware (“Clayton Plant”). (D.l. 62 P1. 74 at 1 1 1). Initially
hired as a vegetable production worker, Plaintiff held a variety of positionsheveext three and
a half years. (D.l. 62 1-8; D.I. 74 at 1  16). She was laid off twice but-tered in both
instances. (D.l. 62 18;-D.l. 74 at 1 1 B).

Plaintiff is an AfricanAmerican woman.During her years of employment at the Clayton
Plant, Plaintiff complained repeatedly of sexual, racial, and retaliatsgrirdination and
harassment. (D.l. 74 at Y ¥, 68; D.Il. 77 M1, 6:8). She lodged these complaints with a number
of individuals and entities, including: Defendant's CEO, Jeffrey Warehime; Hh&.
representative; the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (‘EEOC”); anddiaev@re

Department of Labor (“DDOL"). I¢l.). Three times, she submitted Charges of Discrimination

! The Court’s referral to “Complaint” herein is to Plaintiffs most recent Amended
Complaint, (D.l. 62).



jointly to the EEOC and the DDOL, the first and third of which — those filed on Jahd4aR016
(“January 2016 Charge”) and April 20, 2017 (“April 2017 Chargedye-relevant here.ld. 1 8).
In those instances, the EEOC, acting on the recommendation of the DDOL, detehairiéket
evidence [did] not support a legal conclusion that illegal discrimination occuri@ll” 67 at
AB9, A76-77).

On November 21, 2017, Plaintiff was placed on FMLA leave after reporting an overuse
injury to her hand. (D.l. 661%044). Her physician estimated that her condition would last “8
12 weeks,” stated that she was “to remain out of work un@veduated in four (4) weeks” and
noted that reevaluation would take place on December 19, 2&1J, §.l. 67 at A63;see also
A64-73). What occurred after that dat®ecember 19, 201+#and whether it was intended to be
the end of Plaintiff's FMLA leaveis disputed by the parties. Plaintiff, in short, asserts that
Decamber 19, 2017 was the date on which she would {esakiated, that she saw her physician
as scheduled, that she was informed that she would need to remain out of work, and that she
provided Defendant notice of that fact shortly thereafter but was nelesghmnsidered absent
without cause and terminated. (D.l. 71 at2B3. Defendant, on the other hand, contends that
Plaintiffs FMLA leave ended on December 19, 2017, it received no notice that sheeema
unable to work beyond that date, and it terminated her employment on December 28, 2017 afte
she failed to report to work at the Clayton Plant for several days withouteex@eeD.l. 65 at
20-25; D.l. 76 at 10-15)

In eventual response to her termination, Plaintiff filed the present suit, ih sinécalleges
violations of Title VII, the DDEA, and the FMLA. (D.l. 62). Specificallhesasserts that
Defendant violated Title VII and the DDEA by: “engag[ing] in a pattern arattjge of

discrimination against [her] with respect to the terms, conditions, and privilégesptoyment



because of her race and [sex], and in retaliation for her complaints and diatiomicharges”;
“subject[ing her] to dissimilar and disparate standards of treatment witbctegpthe terms,
conditions, discipline, and privileges of employment, because of her race and [se&X]”; a
“creat[ing] a working environment so hostile that no reasonable employee waukte¢at.? (Id.
11 5978). Also included is an allegation that Defendant terminated Plaintiff's empldymen
retaliation for her discrimination complaintsid.(11 64, 74). Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that
Defendant violated the FMLA by interfering with her righisder thatstatute and retaliating
against her for invoking those rightdd.(T1 7986).

In its Motion, Defendant seeks summary judgment on nearly all of PlasriKitfe VIl and
DDEA claims, and both of her FMLAlaims (SeeD.l. 65; D.I. 76).

. LEGAL STANDARD

Pursuant to Rule 56(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, “[tlhe court <hall gr
summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to araf faetemd
the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” A fadisplute is genuine where “the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving padgrson
v. Liberty Lobby, In¢.477 U.S. 242, 2448 (1986). The moving party bears the burden of
demonstrating the absence of a gaeussue of material facGee Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v.
Zenith Radio Corp.475 U.S. 574, 5886 (1986);Aman v. Cort Furniture Rental Cor@5 F.3d

1074, 108681 (3d Cir. 1996). An assertion that a fact is or is not genuinely disputed must be

2 Plaintiff asserts claims for “gender” discrimination; however, neither TitlendH the
DDEA prohibits discrimination on the basis of “gendef’ Title VII prohibits
discrimination,inter alia, on the basis of “sexgsee42 U.S.C. § 20008, and the DDEA
prohibits discriminationinter alia, on the basis of “sex” and “gender identitygel9Del.
C.8711(a). Inlight of this and because Plaintiff's explanation of her claims ieslitey
are consistent with traditional “sex” discrimination claims, the Court considdrsefers
to them as such.



supported either by citing to “particular parts of materials in the record, inglulipositions,
documents, electronically stored information, affidavits or declarationslations (inaliding

those made for purposes of the motion only), admissions, interrogatory answers,ror othe
materials” or by “showing that the materials cited do not establish the absem@sence of a
genuine dispute, or that an adverse party cannot produce admissible evidence to suiggbit the
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A)B). Relevant to this dispute, EEOC charges na#gse genuine issues

of material fact on their ownSee Mandel v. M & Q Packaging Carg06 F.3d 157, 168 (3d Cir.
2013) (citingLiotta v. Nat'l Forge Cq.629 F.2d 903, 907 (3d Cir. 1980)).

If the moving party has carried its burden, the nonmovant must then “come forward wit
specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for tridhtsushita 475 U.S. at 587 The
Court must “draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, and it nmagikeot
credibility determinations or weigh the evidencBéeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods.,, Inc.
530U.S. 133, 150 (2000), but must only ask “whether arfairded jury could retura verdict for
the plaintiff on the evidence presentedhderson477 U.S. at 248.

In an employment discrimination case, like this one, the Court must ascertathéwhe
there exists sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact athentire employer
intentionally discriminated against the plaintiffMankins v. Temple Univ829 F.2d 437, 440
(3dCir. 1987);see alsd.arochelle v. Wilmac Corp210 F. Supp. 3d 658, 676 (E.D. Pa. Sep. 27,
2016) “Conclusory allegations,” heever, “in the absence of particulars, are insufficient to defeat
summary judgment.”Taylor v. Cherry Hill Bd. of Educ85 F. App’x 836, 839 (3d Cir. 2004).
Moreover, where, as heréhe nonmoving party bears the burden of proof at trial, the moving
paty is entitled to summary judgment on showing that there is a lack of evidenceytthearon

moving party’s burden on an essential element of that’gacguse of action."Brooks v. CBS



Radio, Inc, 342 F. App’x 771, 775 (3d Cir. 2009) (citi@elotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317,
322-23 (1986)).

1. DISCUSSION

As an initial matterthe Court must address Defendant’'s argument that the “DDEA
includes the same administrative exhaustion requiremen@nas®is construedh pari materia
with Title VII.” (D.l. 65 at 12, n.10). Plaintiff does not contest this point and the ligwsawith
Defendant’s position.See Hyland v. Smyrna Sch. Di§08 F. App’x 79, 83 n.5 (3d Cir. 2015)
(instructing that “thestandards under Title VIl and the DDEA are generally the same, [therefore a
plaintiff's] inability to survive summary judgment under Title VII dooms her clamdean the
DDEA"); see also Fort Bend Cnty., Texas v. Davi89 S.Ct. 1843, 1846 (2019) (“As a
precondition to the commencement of a Title VII action in court, a complainant msigtié a
charge with the [EEOC].” (citing 42 U.S.C. § 2068e)(1), ()(1));Paitsel v. StateNo. K15G
02030 JJC, 2016 WL 1424828, at *4 (Del. Super. Ct. Apr. 7, 20B6¢harging party may file
a civil action for discrimination in the Superior Court only after exhaustingdatlirastrative
remedies and receiving a Delaware or Federal Right to Sue Notice.” (citiDgl.1G. § 711(a))).
Moreover, Plaintiff's Title VIland DDEA claims are substantively identical and the parties
address them jointly in their filings.S¢eD.l. 65; D.l. 71; D.l. 76). Thus, the Court applies the

same administrative requirements to both sets of claims and analyzes thent jointly.

The law is unsettled as to whether a plaintifiypeoceed with the same claims under both
federal ¢.g, Title VII) and state€.g, DDEA) law. CompareBrangman v. AstraZeneca,
LP, 952 F. Supp. 2d 710, 724 (E.D. Pa. 2013) (concludirigel9C. § 714(c) does not bar
plaintiff from bringing both Title W and DDEA claims in federal courtyyith Daughtry

v. Family Dollar Stores, In¢634 F. Supp. 2d 475, 483 n.13 (D. Del. 2009) (concluding
19 Del. C 8§ 714(c) precludes plaintiff from pursuing relief under both Title VII and
DDEA). Given the unsettled nature of the law, the Court considers Plaintiff's
discrimination claims under both statutory schem8gse Banner v. Dep’t of Health &



A. TitleVII and the DDEA

Title VII states that “[i]t shall be an unlawful employment practice for an emptoye. .
discharge any individuals, or otherwise discriminate against any individualregpect to his
compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such indiviace|’
color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 20Q0&). Similarly, the DDEA outlaws
discrimination by an employer on the basis of race and/or sekell€.8 711(a).

In seeking summary judgment on Plaintiff's Title VIl and DDEA claims, Defehdegues
that Plaintiff's: (1) wrongful termination claims should be “dismiséddr failure to exhaust her
administrative remedies, and her (2) retaliation claims, (3) discriminationigatate treatment
claims based on race and sex, (4) and hostile work environment claims based on race and sex
should be “dismissed” because of evidentiary deficienci®ee}.l. 65 at 1-2; D.l. 76 at 3, 8).

1. Wrongful Termination Clains

First, Defendant asderthat Plaintiff's Title VIl and DDEA wrongful termination claims
must be dismissed because complainants are required to submit such charges t&tpedtED
filing suit and Plaintiff “never filed a charge of discrimination with the DDOL BCE allegng
that her termination constituted retaliation.” (D.l. 65 at 11). Plaintiff does ragréis that she is

required to have submitted her complaints to the EEOC, but counters that her Januand2016 a

Human Res. Div. for the Visually Impairedo 1216251 PS, 2018 WL 1377095, at *4
n.4(D. Del. March 19, 2018yeaching e same conclusion and taking the same approach).

4 Defendant repeatedly requests that Plaintiff's claims be “dismissed. hdzefeés motion,
however, is one seeking summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56. (D.l. 64). The Court
thus understands the rexgiis to “dismiss” the claims to be requests for entry of summary
judgment in Defendant’s favor.

5 Defendant does not define “wrongful termination claims” in its brlait from the context,
the Court understands this term to referPlaintiff's Title VIl and DDEA retaliation
claims.



April 2017 Charges are sufficient. (D.l. 71 al8. Defendant disagrees, asserting that those
Charges are insufficient because they were both submitted “well before fP&hitrgrmination.”
(D.I. 76 at 1).

“As a precondition to the commencement of a Title VII action in court, a leamaot must
first file a charge with the [EEOC].Fort Bend Cnty.139 S.Ct. at 1846. If the agency does not
act within a specified time frame or chooses not to move forward with the chargest inotify
the filer, which is typically done with a “right to sue” lett@rhe filer then has ninety days to bring
suit based on the allegations in its chafrgé2 U.S.C. § 200086¢f)(1).

The ambit of a cowtbound filer's complaint, however, is not limited to the specific actions
alleged in its EEOC charge(s). Ratheristdefined by the scope of the EEOC investigation which
can reasonably be expected to grow out of [the] charge[(s)] . . ., regardless dfidhsa@ipe of
the investigation.”"Daoud v. City of Wilmingtqr894 F. Supp. 2d 544, 553 (D. Del. Oct. 1, 2012)
(quotingSmiley v. Daimler Chrysleb38 F. Supp. 2d 711, 719 (D. Del. Feb. 21, 20G®g;also
Barzanty v. Verizon PA, Inc361 F. App’x 411, 414 (3d Cir. 2010). This “does not necessarily
preclude a plaintiff from asserting a claim for the mere failure to check a box orC(t ERarge
Form,” though “it does prevent [her] from ‘greatly expanding an investigatioplysiny alleging
new and different facts.Barzanty 361 F. App’x at 414 (citations omitted).

To determine whether a plaintiff has met Title VII's administrative requiremarndsurt
must ask whether “there [is] a close nexus between the facts supporting rirgereligied in the

charge[(s)] and those in the complair@rhiley 538 F. Supp. 2d at 721 (citiktpwze v. Jones &

It is not disputed that Plaintiff filed suit within the required time frahieer January 2016
Charge or her April 2017 Charge is deemed sufficient to satisfy the TitkWiinistrative
requirements.The EEOC notified Plaintiff of its decision regarding those charges and her
resultant right to sue on March 1, 2018. (D.l. 67 at A76-77). She filed the ilzstanit
within ninety daysi.e.,on May 29, 2018. (D.I. 1).



Laughlin Steel Corp.750 F.2d 1208, 1212 (3d Cir. 198@0stapowicz v. Johnson Bronze Co.
541F.2d 394, 3989 (3d Cir. 1976)). For example, retaliation for an EEOC Charge is often found

to fall within the scope of a asonable EEOC investigation of that same cha8ge, e.glLantz

v. Waynesboro Area Sch. Djdtlo. 16¢cv-0224, 2016 WL 6039129, *4 (M.D. Pa. Oct. 14, 2016)
(making such a ruling and noting that the Second, Fourth, Seventh, and Tenth Circuits have found
the same)Farber v. Gen. Elec. CoNo. 932349, 1994 WL 46519, at *5 n.2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 15,
1994) (making such a rulinggee also Howzer50 F.2d at 1212 (holding, in the context of a
motion to amend, that a “new retaliation claim may be fairly consitian explanation of the
original charge”).

As noted, Plaintiff filed two relevant Charges of Discrimination with the EEOE the
DDOL - one in January 2016 and the other in April 2017. The forms documenting those
complaints have sections for providjimgter alia, the type of discrimination alleged, any “adverse
employment action” claimed, the “date(s) of discrimination,” and a “SumiaAflegations.”

(E.g, D.I. 67 at A7, A49). For the “date(s) of discrimination,” the person completingthe f
may indicate “continuing action” by checking a box next to those wordk). (

Plaintiff's January 2016 Charge form states that she alleged disdionif@sed on race,
sex, and retaliation. Id. at A7). It also lists “layoff” as the adverse employmecttom taken
against her and provides one “date of discriminatier®@ctober 13, 2015 which is the date
Plaintiff was laid off from the Clayton Plant for the first tim@.l. 66 § 4 D.l. 67 at A7). The
“continuing action” box is not checked and thaifi@mary of Allegations” states the following:

Charging Party asserts that she was discriminated against based e jggmder,

and in retaliation for engaging in a protected activity. Charging Raggrts that

she was laid off on October 13, 2015dxh®n her protected class. Charging Party

asserts that Alvin Constantine (male, Asian) and Jaime Dobies (male, white)

discriminated against black employees by separating them from white anditlispan
employees in the workplace. Charging Party assertsBiisy (female, white)



spoke to her in a demeaning manner for creating a mess in Betty’s officeinGharg
Party asserts that she contacted Jeff Warehime on multiple occasions tahimfiorm
of the ongoing racial discrimination and sexual harassment atotaion.
Charging Party asserts that, as a result of this phone call, she was eveaiially |
off.

(D.l. 67 at A7.

Plaintiff's April 2017 Charge form states that she again asserted disatiom based on
race, sex, and retaliation, but lists “Harassim Terms and Conditions, Failure to Promote” as the
adverse actions taken against her and January 16, 2017 as the “date(s) ohdisenrhi(d. at
A49). Again, the “continuing action” box is not checkettl.)( The “Summary of Allegations”
recites:

Charging Party asserts she filed a prior charge of discrimination Wi@LD

(SUL010816 / 17€201600222C)[.] Respondent harassed her and denied her a

promotion in retaliation for her complaint. Specifically, Charging Parsgrés

third shift supervier, Jaime Dobies (male) has called less senior employees back

to work, failed to pay her wages for hours worked, refused to show her open

positions, violating the terms of the contract, pressured her to sign grievances
without union representatives, and disciplined her for using the bathroom in an
effort to get her to quit. Charging Party asserts Respondent is treatitgsse

favorably because of her race, sex, and in retaliation for her initial disctiomna
complaint.

(1d.).

Thus, Plaintiff allegedidcrimination based on race, sex, and retaliation in both her January
2016 and April 2017 Charges, and additionally alleged discrimination in the latterliatiata
for her filing of the former. (Id.). Similarly, Plaintiff's instant Title VIl and DDEA wrongful
termination claims allege that she was terminated for “complaining about discrimirdimth
when [she did so] internally, and later when [she] filed discrimination charigfeshe [DDOL]

ard [EEOC].” (D.l. 62 11 64, 74). Thus, Plaintiff's two sets of allegations areealign such a

! The reference number of tpeior charge of discrimination mentioned in Plaintiff's April
2017 Charge form corresponds with the reference number on her January 2016 Charge
form. (D.l. 78 at A7, A49).

10



manner that a close nexus exists between the facts underlying both. Additientiky eixtent

that anysignificancecan be taken from the fact that Plaintiff's charge forms each list onlyatee d

of discrimination and neither has a check mark next to the “continuing action” opéen,
Barzanty 361 F. App’x at 414 (noting that a failure to “check a box” on an EEOC charge form
does not necessarily bar a later legal claim), Defendant’'s acknowledgemetitetiwainduct
alleged in the charge forms occurred over an extended period of time, (Dtl4G9, and the
April 2017 Charge form’s use of the present tense (e.g., “Charging PagtysaRsspondent is
treating her less favorably . . . .”), (D.l. G A49), counteract an implication that Plaintiff alleged
isolated, non-continuing adverse action in her EEOC charges.

As noted, however, Defendant also argues that Plaintiff’'s wrongful terminaagnscl
cannotfall within the ambit of her EEOC charges because those charges are temeonally
from her termination and because the DDOL investigatismich was the basis for the EEOC'’s
decision not to pursue the allegations in her chargess completed befofaintiff's termination.
(D.1. 76 at 23). Defendant cites no support for either of these propositantsthe Court finds
them uncompelling in light of the applicable stande®ée Daoud894 F. Supp. 2d at 553 (noting
courts must ask whether theiotg fall within the scope of the EEOC investigation which can
reasonably be expected to grow out of EEOC charges, regardless of whetineestigation
actually reached purported harm justifying the claiseg also Barzanty V361 F. App’x at 414.
Moreover, temporal proximity is less compelling in this case because PlaiAgifil 2017 Charge

form describes ongoing retaliation, (D.l. 67 at A49), which could reasonably betexpge

8 Defendant citeteBoon v. Lancaster Jewish Cnty. Ctr. As§03 F.3d 217, 233 (3d Cir.
2017). Leboon howeverdiscussed timing in relation to the issue of causation in Title VII
cases, not the statute’s administrative requirements. (D.l. 76 at 3). TheaGalyzes
such causation issues — including tempprakimity — infra.

11



continue before culminating in termination, especially where, as e employee alleges that
the employer is attempting to force her to quit.

Therefore, based on the close nexus between the facts supporting Plaintiff'y 28déar
and April 2017 Charges and her current Title VIl and DDEA wrongful terminakiams, Plaintiff
has satisfied the administrative exhaustion requirements of Title VII and t&& RIh respect
to her wrongful termination claims, and Defendant is not entitled to sumutiygment on those
claims on that basis.

2. Retaliation Claims

Next, Defendat argues that it is entitled to summary judgmenttiom substance of
Plaintiff's Title VIl and DDEA retaliation claims because she allegedly faifgéeide sufficient
evidence connecting her termination to a retaliatory animus. (D.l. 65 atdihtifPargues that
she can prove these claims either via “direct evidence,” presumably meanimghentimixed
motive” theoryinitially approvedin Price Waterhouse v. Hopkind90 U.S. 228 (1989), or,
alternatively, through the threstep burdesshifting framework announced iMcDonnell Douglas
Corp. v. Green411 U.S. 792 (1973). (D.l. 71 at-1B, 15). The Supreme Court, however, has
ruled that “the mixed motive analysis set forthPimce Waterhouseand subsequently codified in
the Civil Rights Act of 291,” is applicable to discrimination based on “race, color, religion, sex,
or national origin,” but “is not applicable to retaliation clajimghich are governed by a separate
provision of Title VII. Univ. of Tex. Southwestern Med. Center v. Na$s&0 U.S. 338, 3653
(2013) (“Title VII's antiretaliation provision, which is set forth in 8§ 20e8{a), appears in a
different section from Title VII's ban on statbased discrimination. . . When Congress wrote
the motivatingfactor provision in 1991, it chose to insert it as a subsection within § Z)00e
which contains Title VII's ban on statlmsed discrimination . . . and says nothing about

discrimination . . . This fundamental difference in statutory structure renders inapposissothsci

12



which treated retaliation as an implicit corollary of statased discrimination.”see alspEgan

v. Delaware River Port Auth851 F.3d 263272-73 (3d Cir. 2017) (noting that, iNassar the
Supreme Court “recognized that different causation staadaay apply to different claims”)
Rumanek v. Indep. Sch. Mgmt., Jrig F. Supp. 3d 571, 578 n.4 (D. Del Jan. 10, 2014). Thus,
only Plaintiff's McDonnell Douglasargument is relevant here&See e.g, Rumanek50 F. Supp.

3d at 578.

Under McDonnell Douglas threestep burdesshifting framework, Plaintiff must first
make out grima faciecase of retaliatory discriminatiorDaniels v. Sch. Dist. of Philadelphia
776 F.3d 181, 1994 (3d Cir. 2015). If she is successful, the burden of production shifts to
Defendant tarticulate a fegitimate nonretaliatory reason for having taken the adverse action.”
Id. If Defendant successfully completes this second step, Plaintiff then happgbgunity to
present evidence indicating that Defendant’s reason(s) are mere pretexetedratorymotive.

Id. Although the burden of production shifts back and forth, Plaintiff “has the ultimate burden of
persuasion at all times.Id. (citing Reeves530 U.S. at 143).

a. Prima FacieCase

To establish grima faciecase of retaliation under Title VII, Plaintiff must present
evidence indicating that she engaged in protected activity, suffered an adversgmeenphction
contemporaneous with or after engaging in that protected activity eagsal link exists between
the protected activity and the adverse employment acBean, e.gWilkerson v. New Media Tech.
Charter Sch. Ing.522 F.3d 315, 320 (3d Cir. 200&ee also Danie|s776 F.3d at 1934.
Defendant assumes, for summary juégitpurposes only, that Plaintiff can establish the first two

elements. (D.l. 65 at 13). Thus, the Court focuses on the thindhether Plaintiff has presented

o Despite assuming that Plaintiff can establish the first two elements, Defenelargjois

on to argue that only three of Plaintiff's asserted protected activitless two EEOC

13



sufficient evidence of a causal link between a protected activity and anexdugrbymentetion
taken against her to create a genuine issue of material fact. Yet assessing takertierd
requires, by definition, identifying at least one qualifying protected &ctand one qualifying
adverse event. As Defendant admits, (D.l. 65 at 14 n.168), Plaintiff's two relevant EEOC
charges and her termination qualify for these categories, respectietyalso, e.gLeboon v.
Lancaster Jewish Community Center As§03 F.3d 217, 232 & n.9 (3d Cir. 2007). The Court,
therefore, assesses whether Plaintiff has sufficiently established a causadtmm between her
two EEOC charges and her termination to survive summary judgment.

The causal connection element of a retaliation claim may be satisfied by “calorapadf
evidence,’id. at 232(quotingFarrell v. Planters Lifesavers CQR06 F.3d 271, 284 (3d Cir. 2000)
including any “pattern of antagonism” or evidence of retaliatory animus fioliptine protected
conduct, temporal proximity between the protected activity and the adverseysraptaaction,
the use of “inconsistent reasons” for adverse action, or any other evidesmoenftfich causation
can be inferred Farrell, at 28081. See als®aniels 776 F. 3d at 1984. Temporal proximity

can be sufficient on its own, but only if “unusually suggestive’ of a retaliataive.” Krouse

charges and one of her calls to Jeffrey Warehimend me of her asserted adverse
employment actions her termination- qualify as such. (D.l. 65 at 14 n. 16; at 1718).
Plaintiff, on the other hand, does not explicitly address the first two elements buhdke
arguments suggesting she believes she has suffered more than one adverseestploym
action g.g, “Plaintiff has alleged several discrete acts, along with continuous hardssme
over several years(D.l. 71 at 1718)) and relies on evidence that potentially indicates that
she suffered noetermination adverse employment actioa,g, Aretta Butler's statement

that Jaime Dobies gave Plaintiff “all the worst jobs” (D.l. 71 at 12))caBse the Court
takes Defendant's assumption at face value, however, and finds that Plaintiff has
sufficiently esablishedthe third element of thigrima facieclaim at least with respect to

her EEOC Charges and terminattorsurvive summary judgment, it makes no ruling as to
whether other asserted protected activities and adverse events qualify.as such

14



v. Am. Sterilizer C9.126 F.3d 494, 503 (3d Cir. 1997) (citations omittede also Danie]s7/76

F. 3d at 193-94 (citingeboon 503 F. 3d at 232).

Plaintiff asserts that the followingonstitutes “direct evidencethat Defendant took

adverse action against her in retaliation for her complaints of workplacerdistion':

Deposition testimony and affidavits of four Clayton Plant employees indicatihg th
supervisors were trying to make Plaintiff quit:

o Former Clayton Plant employee Kisha Dickson stated in an affidavit that

one of Defendant’s supervisors, Jaime Dobies, “said he was trying to make
[Plaintiff] quit. | heard Mr. Dobiesind other employees take bets on how
long it would take for [Plaintiff] to quit,” (D.l. 71 at 1Zee alsdD.l. 71
Ex.A15),

Former Clayton Plant employee Aretta Butler stated in her deposition that
Jaime Dobies gave Plaintiff “all the worst jobs thatcould give her” in
“2017,” (D.I. 71 at 12see alsd.l. 71 Ex. C at 33:24 — 34:8),

Former Clayton Plant employee Karriem Keys stated in his deposition that
Jaime Dobies said he “had it out” for Plaintiff, (D.l. 71 at $8e also
D.l. 71 Ex. D at 156:17-22, 160:20-161:2),

Former Clayton Plant employee Pamela Joseph stated in an affidavit “My
supervisors were hard on [Plaintiff].. . They would give her conflicting
instructions so that she wouldn’t be able to follow all of itte¢ructions.

... l overheard them say that they would get rid of her one way or another.
| overheard them say they would put her on certain jobs to make her quit,”
(D.I. 71 at 12see alsd.l. 71 Ex. B 1 12);

Deposition testimony of former Clayton Plant employee Aretta Butler allegedly
“characterize[ing] Dobies’ comments as repeating what was said in [H.R.],”
(D.I. 71 at 13see alsarl Ex. C at 32:14 — 33:9);

Note in Plaintiff's H.R. file that reads: “Darlene is saying we are iisoating
. ... She is making our good people quit because of grievances & not being able
to do her job,” (D.1. 71 at 13ee alsd.l. 71 Ex. E);

10 Plaintiff does not detail how she meets the elementsprinaa faciecase of retaliation;
she simply states that she “can prove her case undévidbennell Douglasburden-
shifting framework” and skips straight to step thre8eeD.l. 71 at 15). Thus, the Court
applies the “direct evidence of retaliation” she asserts tprihmea facieelements.
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e An alleged “pattern of disciplining employees [at the Clayton Plant] rightthfgr
complained about racism,” evidendeyt

o A former Clayton Plant employee who complained about -falaitk
racism” being “written up” and terminated at a meeting to discuss those
complaints, (D.l. 71 at 13%ee alsd.l. 71 Ex. G at 62:225, 65:2466:4;

D.l. 71 Ex. F);

o A former Clayton Plant employee being “written up” by a supervisor “for
an incident in which [the employee] was not even present” seven days after
the employee complained about the same supervisor’'s use of a racial slur,
(D.I. 71 at 13see alsd.l. 72 Ex H);

o The former Clayton Plant shop steward who “helped [Plaintiff] lodge
complaints,” —Aretta Butler— being “terminated on the same day as
[Plaintiff] for the same reason ‘no call, no show'— even though [she]
called” an H.R. representative about bbsence in advance, (D.l. 71 at 13;
see alsd.l. 71 Ex. C at 96:3-24, 101:4 — 103:23);

o Defendant’'s H.R. “file on June Young|, which] contains a racism complaint

about June Young, immediately followed by a list of problems with June
Young's work,” (D.l. 71 at 13see alsd.l. 72 EX. I).

Additionally, Plaintiff asserts that former supervisor Greg Kirtley' sod@pon testimony indicates
that “[s]upervisors would meet with [H.R.] personnel many times a week, includlingrihe
Urbano,” (Plaintiff's H.R. reresentative at the time) and “[m]ost of the meetings were about
attendance and time issueg¢D.l. 74 at 8 1 13). Plaintiff further uses Kirtley’'s testimony to assert
that Shivonne Urbane the person who signed Plaintiff's termination lettewas notsolely
responsible for the decision to terminate her employment. (D.l. 74 at 5 § 54).

Defendant denies that Kirtley was involved in the decision to terminate Plaintificies
that he testified that “he met with Helena Picozzi” (Shitrbano’s predecessor, (D.I. 78 at
C75)) “on time and attendance matters, computer system issues, or empissee panches,”
but only saw Urbano in morning meetings and to discuss H.R. matters when he needed
clarification. (D.l. 77 § 13). Defendantrtoer argues that Plaintiff's other asserted facts are

insufficient to constitute the necessary evidence of a retaliatory anirdes arfimixed motive”
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theory for several reasons: none of the “alleged statements by otheryeesplo. . , even if
acceptedas true” has “anything to do with Urbarothe person who undisputedly made the
decision to terminate Plaintiff”;Plaintiff’'s argument “incorrectly assume[] that Jaime Dobies
made or was involved in the . . . decision to terminate Plaintiff’; and mdbesé statements
from other employees lack any timeframe or context for the allegations sey. ad.1. 78 at4

5). Defendant also argueswithout evidentiary support that the unsigned, undated note in
Plaintiff's H.R. file was “written by Helen®icozzi, not [Shivonne] Urbano,” on June 6, 2016,
“over a year and a half before Plaintiff's termination,” and concerns Bffainbmplaint regarding
being told by a supervisor that she could “go buck naked if that would help” aftegsiestexl a
work smock. (D.I. 76 at 56).1' Lastly, Defendant asserts that Plaintiff's allegation that it has a
“pattern of disciplining employees right after they complained about racsnorisupported and
lacks “a causal connection to any complaintd. &t 6).

In additionthese criticisms dPlaintiff’'s asserted evidence of retaliation, Defendant argues
that Plaintiff cannot establish a causal connection between a protected aciiviter termination
because she “cannot point to any direct evidence of retaliatient,”*? “must therefore rely on
temporal proximity,” and the time between her EEOC charges and terminaitardreyond the
time frame recognized by the Third Circuit as being indicative of retaliatomytihtéD.l. 65 at

13-15). It also argues &t Plaintiff's deposition testimony indicates that she was aware that failure

1 Both Plaintiff's and Defendant’s citations lead to the same document. (D.I5#&).at

12 The Court notes that, despite this argument, direct evidence is not required undst the fir
step of theMcDonnell Douglasurdenshifting framework. See Wilkersan522 F.3d at

320 (explaining that the first step McDonnell Douglasrequires only grima facie
showing of the enumerated elert®n
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to submit a proper doctor’s note could subject her to termination and that she believerkbEsw
compensation claim caused her terminatidd. gt 14-15)3

Even assuming Defendant is correct that temporal proximity weighs agkmgififand
her statements can be interpreted in the manner it alleges, she has preseaieut soffiitrary
evidence to give rise to a genuine issue of material fact on thismiefirst, the note in Plaintiff's
H.R. file suggests the presence of a retaliatory animus towards Playnséfmeone in the H.R.
department. Although undated, if Defendant is correct, it was written on or around June 6, 2016
— after Plaintiff filed ker January 2016 Charg&ee Farrell 206 F.3d at 2881 (stating causation
can be established by evidence of a “retaliatory animus” following the prbtmtduct). Second,
the testimony and affidavits of Plaintiffs former coworkers suggest bothateerp of
communication between H.R. and Clayton Plant supervisors regarding emplogeegaitern of
antagonism by Clayton Plant supervisors towards Plain®fée id.(stating causation can be
established by evidence of a “pattern of antagonism” follg\live protected conduct). Although
only one of Plaintiff's former coworkers could say when Clayton Plant superviscegmyag to
get Plaintiff to quit, that coworker stated it occurred in 26Xfie same year Plaintiff filed her
second EEOC charge and a year after she filed the $iest.supra Moreover, as describadpra
Plaintiff's April 2017 Charge form alleges ongoing retaliation assalteof her January 2016
Charge. SeeMande| 706 F.3d at 168 (finding that EEOC charges can raise genuine issues of
material fact on their own (citingiotta, 629 F.2d at 907)) Based on this evidence, a factfinder

could reasonably believe that, following her filing of at least the January 20i@§eChaetaliatory

13 Defendant also argues that none of the remaining adverse actions identfikdniiff is
sufficiently close to her protected activity to establish retaliatory intent. ®at 1516).
The Court finds no need to address these arguments iggvénding on the admitted
protected activities and adverse actions.
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animus existed against Plaintiff and she wabjected to a pattern of antagonism. That same
factfinder could reasonably believe that the animus and pattern of antagonism cbntinue
throughout 2017 before culminating in her termination on December 28 of that year.

Thus, Plaintiff has satisfied thiest step ofMcDonnell Douglasfor purposes of this
motion.

b. Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason

Defendant’s burden to establish a legitimate,-disgriminatory reason for the purported
adverse employment action in the second step is “relatively lighigntes v. Perskie82 F.3d
759, 763 (3d Cir. 1994). It is a burden of production, not persuasion, and therefore involves no
credibility assessmenReeves530 U.Sat142. In other worddDefendant “need not prove that
the tendered reasoactually motivated its behavior,’Fuentes 32 F.2d at 763. Merely
“articulate[ing] a legitimate, nediscriminatory reason” is sufficient.arochelle 210 F. Supp. 3d
at 678 (citingMcNeil v. Greyhound Lines, In6G9 F. Supp. 3d at 522 (E.D. Pa. 2014)).
Here,Defendant asserts that it “terminated Plaintiff's employment when she failettito r
to work or submit additional medical documentation extending her leave beyond itsiexmr
December 19, 2017.” (D.l. 65 at 24). It is undisputed that Plaintiff did not return to work after
December 19, 2017 and Defendant’s assertion is corroborated by the justificatiategriovi
Plaintiff's termination letter, (D.l. 67 at A74). Thus, Defendant has met its ihfod@urposes of
this motion.

C. Pretext

To satisfythe third and final step dficDonnell Douglasand establish that Defendant’s
proffered nordiscriminatory reason for terminating her employment is pretext, Plaintiff mus
come forth with'some evidence, direct or circumstantial, from which a factfindeldo@asonably

either: (a)“disbelieve [Defendant’s] articulated reasons”; or (b) “believe that an im&dio
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discriminatory reason was more likely than not a motivating factor or deternairaivse of
[Defendant’s] action.” Fuentes 32 F.3d at 764. In other words, “to avoid summary judgment,
[Plaintiff's] evidence rebutting [Defendant’s] proffered legitimatesmamust allow a factfinder
reasonably to infer thaachof [its] proffered nordiscriminatory reasons . . . was either a post
hoc fabrication potherwise did not actually motivate the employment actiégtatitz v. MetPro
Corp., 412 F.3d 463, 467 (3d Cir. 2005) (quotigentes 32 F.3d at 764)see alsdaniels 776
F.3d at 1939€4. To establish pretext under the first method, Plaintiff's evidence must point out
“such weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, incoherencies, oradictidins in
[Defendant’s] proffered legitimate reasons” sufficient to show thatrr@eson for termination was
discriminatory. Willis v. UPMC Childrefs Hosp, 808 F.3d 638, 64415 (3d Cir. 2015). To
establish pretext under the second, she must submit proof that Defendant previousiindisct
against her, discriminated against others witiém protected class, or treated other similarly
situated individuals outside her class more favorably than those withéh &t 645.

Plaintiff's burden in this final stage is “difficult.Kautz 412 F.3d at 467 (quotirieuentes
32 F.3d at 765). Shmannot show pretext with evidence that Defendant’s decision “was wrong or
mistaken, since the factual dispute at issue is whether discriminatory animus tedotiva
[Defendant], not whether [Defendant] is wise, shrewd, prudent, or competenat’467 (goting
Fuentes 32 F.3d at 76%)see also Daniels776 F.3d at 1989. As such, the Court must look
“carefully” at Defendant’s proffered reason as well as Plaintiff’'s claim oégpteKautz 412 F.3d
at 468.

Plaintiff argues that she can establish pteia several ways. First, she argues that
Defendant’s purported justification “depends on misapplying” the FMLA.. {2.at 15). Second,

she asserts it lacks credence because the deposition testimony and affieahas put forward
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show that Clayto Plant supervisors had an animus toward a protected class, the dates underlying
Defendant’s justification do not make sense, and the timing of her terminasospect in light

of the simultaneous termination of the shop steward who assisted her with H.R. comflidints

at 1517). Third, Plaintiff claims that Defendant previously discriminated agdiastand
discriminated against others in retaliation for complaining about workplacetiomsd? (D.I. 71

at 1718).

Defendant counters that Plaintif's FMLA argument is misplaced, because “even a
mistaken belief about an employee’s misconduct is sufficient to establishiengiatory motive,”

(D.1. 76 at 8 (citing Third Circuit precedent)), and her “credence” argumentsvahout merit”
because she “has [not] supplied direct evidence of retaliatitnh). (Defendant rebuts Plaintiff's
other arguments by asserting that “there has been no judicial finding of andistoiry motive at
any time,” the “[m]ere allegations” of others “do notaddish discrimination,” and, even if they
could, the allegations of Plaintiff’'s former coworkers “do not show that [Shivonnedrdis
decision was based on discriminatory animusd’) (

Despite Defendant’s arguments, the Court finds, drawing all rebkomnferences in
Plaintiff's favor, that a factfinder could reasonably believe that Defendanp®ped reason for
terminating Plaintiff's employment did not actually motivate that decision. Thesidieps and
affidavits of her former coworkers, irogjunction with the statements in Plaintiff's own EEOC
charges and the evidence ttie shop steward who assisted Plaintiff in filing H.R. complaints was
fired on the same day as Plaintiff, for the same reason, despite also gllefprdiing Defendant

that she was entitled to FMLA leaveseeD.l. 71 Ex. C at 98-24, 1014 — 103:23 Butler

14 Plaintiff also asserts that Defendant favored others outside the protemssd it the
substance of her argument relates to her claims of race and sex disapiminati
retaliation. GeeD.l. 71 at 18).
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Deposition Transcript); D.I. 73 Ex. J at-18 (Plaintiff Deposition Transcript at 22921)),
collectively sow enough doubt in Defendant’s proffered terminatioifipagion that a reasonable
juror could disbelieve that justification.

Moreover, contrary to Defendant’s assertion, Plaintiff relies on more than “[m]ere
allegations”— she relies on statements in affidavits, depositions, EEOC charges, and other
documerd in the record.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1) (“A party asserting that a fact cannot be or
is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by: citing to particular partgearials in the
record, including depositions, documents, . . . affidavits”);. Mande| 706 F.3d at 168 (finding
EEOC charges can raise genuine issues of material fact on their own [(mtiag 629 F.2d at
907)). Additionally, as already noted, Plaintiff has submitted evidence rebidgfendant’s
assertion that Shivonne Urbano was solely responsible for the decision to terhmnate
employment.(SeeD.l. 74 at 5 1 54).

Thus, Defendant is not entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's retaliation clades un
Title VIl and the DDEA, as she has sulfficiently established a genuine iEsoaterial fact for
those claims under tidcDonnell Douglasurden-shifting framework.

3. Discrimination and Disparate Treatment ClaiBased on Race and Sex

Next, Defendant argues that it is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's Titdenyf
DDEA discrimination and disparate treatment claims based on race and sex becaustagbd has
to put forth evidence of a causal link between adverse employment aceonagdinst her and
her membership in either of those protected classes. (D.l. 65 at 1). Pdgatiffargues that she
can establish these claims under either Rnee Waterhousémixed motive” theory or the
McDonnell Douglaghreestep prima facie case— nondiscriminatory reasos pretext) burden
shifting test. (D.l. 71 at 1315). As already notedior these claims, she caseeEgan 851 F.3d

at 27273 (“Notably, the [Supreme] Court [INassaf distinguished Title VII's antretaliation

22



provisionfrom its ‘principal’ antidiscrimination provision, which states that a plaintiff establishes
discrimination when he or she ‘demonstrates that race, color, religion, setjamal origin was

a motivating factor, for any employment practice, even thaigar factors also motivated the
practice” (quoting Nassar 570 U.S. at 348-49 (quoting 42 U.S82000e2(m)))).

Under thePrice Waterhoustmixed motive” theory, Plaintiff must present sufficient direct
or circumstantial evidenée that Defendant placed substantial reliance on a proscribed
discriminatory factor in making its decision to take adverse employmeohagainst herE.g.,
Desert Palace, Inc. v. Costa39 U.S. 90, 92, 1602 (2003) (holding that direct evidence is not
required for court to deliver mixeahotive jury instruction for Title VII claims under § 2060e
2(m)); Egan 851 F.3dat 274; Church v. Sears Holding Corps05 F. App’x 119, 123 (3d Cir.
2015). If she can do that, the burden shifts to Defendant to prove that it would have still taken the
employment action even if it had not considered the proscribed fatarch 605 F. App’x at
123.

“Direct evidence” in this context means evidefisaifficient to allowthe jury to find that
the decision makers placagubstantial negative reliance on [the illegitimate criterion] in reaching
their decisiori” Church 605 F. App’x at 123quoting Glanzman v. Metro. Mgmt. Cor@B91
F.3d 506, 512 (3d Cir.200¢) “Stray remark[s],” “vague” statements, “innocuous conversation
jabs” in social settings, “random office banter,” remarks by-aecisionmakers, and statements

by decisionmakers unrelated to the contested employment decision do not codgtcite

15 “The [Desert Palace] Court observed that Title VII's silence regardingpleeot evidence
necessary in mixethotive cases also suggests that we should not depart from the
conventional rule of civil litigation that gendélsaapplies in Title VII cases, which requires
a plaintiff to prove his case by a preponderance of the evidence . . . using direct or
circumstantial evidence.Egan 851 F.3d at 274 (quotirigesert Palace539 U.S. at 98
99) (internal quotation marks & rddications omitted).

23



evidene, particularly if temporally remote from the date of decisiBee, e.g.Faketev. Aetna,
Inc., 308 F.3d335, 33738 n.2, 33%40 (3d Cir. 2002) Griffiths v. CIGNA Corp.988 F.2d 457,
470 (3d Cir. 1993)Silver v. Am. Inst. Of Certified Pub. Accountgl2F. App’x 82, 85 (3d Cir.
2006).

Circumstantial evidence, on the other hand, is sufficient under a “mixed mdtaoay/t if
[it] can ‘fairly be said to directly reflect the alleged unlawful basis’tfe@ adverse employment
decision.” Fakete 308 F.3d at 339 (citations omittedyee also Egan851 F.3d at 274. For
example, “statements of a person involved in the decisionmaking process thet aefle
discriminatory or retaliatory animus of the type complained of in the suit’udieisnt even “f
the statements are not made at the same time as the adverse employment decigius, and t
constitute only circumstantial evidence that an impermissible motive substantisilates the
decisions.”Id.

The Third Circuit has made clear that satisfying this standard is a “high ’hurfi¢he
burden . . . shifts . . . ‘only after the plaintiff has proven that her employer acted wihjawhd
not merely ‘on the basis of@ima facieshowing.” Waldenv. GeorgiaPacific Corp, 126 F.3d
506, 513-14(3d Cir. 1997). In other words, Plaintiff must put forth “evidence [] sufficient to
permit the factfinder to infer that a [impermissible] attitude was more likely thizen motivating
factor in the employes’ decision.”Id.

The Court considers the parties’ arguments for Plaintiff's discriminatohdésparate
treatment claims based on race and based on sex hwttiethis “mixed motive” theory and the
McDonnell Douglasurdenshifting test laid ousupra

a. Race

Plaintiff alleges that the following constitutes “direct evidence” of ragsdronination

and disparate treatment against her:
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e Deposition testimony of former Clayton Plant employee Pamela Joseph that:
o Clayton Plant supervisor “Jaime Dobies wocedl black employees ‘black’
as a name instead of their real names. He would say black people are ‘lazy’
and ‘only play basketball.” He would give black employees worse jobs. He
would write up employees he didn’t like for magje reasons . . ..” (D.T.1
at 13;see alsd.l. 71 Ex. B  16);

e Affidavit of former Clayton Plant employee Pamela Joseph that:

o0 “The darker, the browner your skin got, the more you had a problem,” (D.I.
71 at 14see als®.l. 78 C60-C61 (Joseph Deposition at 229 — 230:2);

o Affidavit of former Clayton Plant employee Kisha Dickson tH§tdr example, one
supervisor, Herman [Perez], would say ‘get your black ass back to work,” and he
was wearing his ‘pants like a nigger,” (D.l. 71 at $de alsd.l. 71 Ex. A 1 4);

e Statement in meeting minutes from a July 6, 2016 meeting between Clayton Plant
supervisory personnel and form@layton Plant employee Fred Williamson that:
“Fred indicated that there is favoritismmthe Spanish vs. black. And Valerie
indicated that her supervisor, Herman, said ‘me like a “nigger” now.” ‘Me forgot
me pants, me like a “nigger” now.” Fred indicated that when you go to [Plant
Manager] Alvin nothing is ever done.” (D.l. 71 at $4p alsd.l. 71 Ex. F at 2);

e Additional “allegations of discrimination” in the “Savage charge,” an EEOC eharg
filed by another Clayton Plant employgzl. 71 at 14see alsdD.l. 72 Ex. H).

In response, Defendant asserts that Plaintiff “did not cite any racialkenaate directly
to her,” that Herman Perez was reprimanded by Defendant for his use of “niggehathid use
of that slur was temporallsemote from any adverse employment action taken against her, was
promptly investigated by Defendant, and was determined to have been the result of a
misunderstanding regarding the meaning of the term. (D.l. 76 at 6-7).

Even taking all reasonable inferences in her favor, Plaintiff'sibased discrimination and
disparate treatment claims cannot survive summary judgment under a “mixied”’nizeory.
None of the evidence presented involves or relates to Plaintiff or an advelsgrapm action
taken aginst her; thus, a reasonable factfinder could not find or infer that a rdmasdbd attitude

was more likely than not a motivating factor in a decision regarding thes,teonditions,
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disciplines, or privileges of her employment, as her complairgesldD.l. 62  63) See Walden
126 F.3d at 51-34 (stating thaPrice Waterhouseequires “evidence [] sufficient to permit the
factfinder to infer that a [impermissible] attitude was more likely than not a atiotyvfactor in
the employer’s decisiof)”

For many of the same reasons, a reasonable factfinder could also not find ittt RAsi
made out grima faciecase of discrimination or disparate treatment based on her race to satisfy
the first step oMcDonnell Douglas Defendant assumes feummary judgment purposes that
Plaintiff can establish the first two elemertthat she is a member of a relevant protected class
and was qualified for a position she sought — but argues that she cannot prove the latteatwo —
she suffered adverse elmpment action or that the action occurred under circumstances that would
give rise to an inference of intentional discrimination. (D.l. 65 &t&)6 In addition to its criticism
of the evidence she has offered (noted above), Defendant asserts thiitf'$leace-based
discrimination claims must fail because “she cannot identify any adverseyengpit action taken
against her, nor can she establish a causal connection between the only adversesgrngaddigm
in this case- [her] termination- and hemembership in a protected categoryldl. @t 1718).16
Thus, the Court again begins with the third elemewhether Plaintiff has established that she
suffered an adverse employment action.

An adverse action for Title VII purposes is limited to those actions that aegiatig

adversej.e., that are of such a nature that a reasonable employee may have been dissuaded from

16 The Court notes that Defendant’s purported criticism of Plaintiff's evidérateshe “does
not cite any evidence of a racial remark made directly to her” misapprehendetaatrel
guestion undeMcDonnell Douglas The questiounderMcDonnell Douglass whether
Plaintiff has put forward evidence that she suffered an adverse emplogotientunder
circumstances that could give rise to an inference of intentional discriminitiande|
706 F.3d at 167.Restricting TitleVIl discrimination cases to those instances where a
remark was made directly to a plaintiff would ignore the intractable natunarmy biases.
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making or supporting a charge of discriminatioBee BurlingtorN. & Santa Fe Ryv. White
548U.S. 53, 6768 (2006). The category “encompasses all tangible employment actions such as
‘hiring, firing, failing to promote, reassignment or a decision causingfisant change in
benefits.” Sherrod v. Philadelphia Gas \Wks, 57 F. App’x 68, 75 (3d Cir. 2003) (quoting
Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth524 U.S. 742, 761 (1998)). It can also include disparate
treatmente.g., Larochellge210 F. Supp. 3dt 68990, constructive discharge.g., Sherrod57 F.

App’x at 75, and paying an individual a lower salary,., id. The standard, however, draws a line
between trivial and serious harms and only allows Title VII to address tae [&de Burlington

N., 548 U.Sat67-68.

Plaintiff has alleged in her Complaint trexhployees were separated according to their
race, her pay was withheld, her medical information was disclosed, she wad eehss®f open
positions to which she was entitled, she was directed to sign grievances withouwina uni
representative presenheswas subjected to unfair discipline, and she was not promoted. (D.l. 62
1 63). The deposition testimony and affidavits she has presented additionallieititht @ frican
American employees like Plaintiff were given worse jobs and shortershtieakthose of other
races. See supra Finally, Plaintiff was terminatedd.

Withholding of pay, denial of access to open positions, unfair discipline, failure to gromot
assignment of worse jobs, and termination all meet the definition of “tangibleyangmt actions”
articulated above.See Sherrqd57 F. App’x at 75. The other alleged actions may qualify as
“tangible employment action” in some instances but cannot here becauss tieenedication that
any of them resulted in “a significant change in benefig&e® id.Plaintiff, however, has also not
put forward sufficient evidender most of thequalifying actions. Although it is undisputed that

Plaintiff's employment was terminated, she has not established how or whygmjreddo herself
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or other African American employees were “worse” than any others such that itharesgs

could qualifyas “significant change[s] in benefits.” She has also presented no evidence that her
pay was withheld, she applied or was eligible for, and was subsequently denied, aopramnot

she was subjected to unfair discipline. Additionally, to the extent that she had sligilte
Defendant regarding access to particular job openings, Defendant eithpernsated her for the
perceived wrong or Plaintiff admitted that she was shibndisputed job posting). (SeeD.l. 67

at A39, A41; D.I. 68 at A140-41, A144-45).

Plaintiff has therefore established only one adverse employment action tgiest ier:
termination. Yet none of the events surrounding Plaintiff's termination suggeketifatng was
motivated or impacted by racial bias, nor do they give t an inference that Plaintiff's
termination was animated by intentional racial discrimination. It is not even cleaPfeontiff's
Complaint or Answering Brief that Plaintiff alleges her termination was fueledabhalr
discrimination. $eeD.l. 62 1 62 (listing “Defendant’s discriminatory acts” and not mentioning
her termination); D.I. 71 at B4 (listing Plaintiff’'s purported evidence of racial discrimination
and not mentioning her terminatjon

Thus, Plaintiff has failed to make outpama facie case of discrimination or disparate
treatment based on race under Title VII or the DDEA.

Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's Title arid

DDEA discrimination and disparate treatment claims based on race.

o Given this ruling, the Court has no reason to address Defend&atragher/Ellertt

defense here.
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b. Sex

Plaintiff alleges that the following constitutes “direct evidence” of sex discrtrmmand

disparate treatment:

Affidavit statement of former Clayton Plant employee Kisha Dickson that
“[Supervisor Greg Kirtley] tried to kiss my mouth, and | had to pull away to stop
him.” (D.I. 71 at 14see alsdD.l. 71 Ex. A 7);

Affidavit statement of former Clayton Plant employee Pamela Joseph that
“Supervisors would let young women who they thought were attractive get away
with anything, such as smoking marijuanahe parking lot or going to their cars

to smoke.” (D.I. 71 at 14ee alsd.l. 71 Ex. B  6);

The following exchangeduring the deposition of former Clayton Plant employee
Pamela Joseph:

o0 Q. So [Greg Kirtley] flirted with you by telling you take your necklad® of

A. It's the way he did it because he didn’'t have to touch me. He literally
opened my shirt. (D.l. 71 at 14ee alsoD.l. 78 at C5152 (Joseph
Deposition at 82:1 — 88)),

Q. Well, I'm asking you what you personally heard or saw.

A. I'm telling you what | personally heard him say, Jaime [Dobies]"s&s

not who you know, it's who you blow.” (D.l. 71 at 14 (citing Joseph
Deposition at 211:14-18));

The following exchange during Plaintiff’'s deposition (D.I. 71 at 15):

o Q. So you thought that remark was aimed at trying to have a sexual

relationship with you?

A. Maybe not a sexual relationship. But why would you want a person to
take their clothes off? | mean | don’t know what his purpose was. (D.l. 71
at 14;see alsd.l. 71 Ex. J at B (Plaintiff Deposition at 7.2-8)).

Defendant responds by arguing that most of the allegations Plaintiff putsrdoteo not

relate to any conduct allegedly directed to [her].” (D.l. 76 at 14). Additionalgsierts that the

exchange from Plaintiff’'s deposition regarding a “sexual relationshipta®lto a statement from

Clayton Plant supervisor Greg Kirtley that “[Plaintiff] could go buckethit that will help” when

she requested a work smock and, therefore, the statement “does not show [ggk dnastitute
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a request for sexual favors,” but was, at most, an ighlatery remark that is insufficient to satisfy
Plaintiff's claim. (D.l. 76 at 7). Lastly, Defendant points out that Plaintstified in her
deposition that Jaime Dobies’ statement, “it's not who you know, it's who you blov, hveae

in the summer 02014 before Dobies became a supervisor, was not repeated once he became a
supervisor, and thus is temporally remote from the decision to terminate Plaiatjif.

Much as with her racbased discrimination and disparate treatment clafttantiff has
not shown there is a genuine issue of material fact undétribe Waterhousémixed motive”
standard for her Title VIl and DDEA discrimination and disparate treatmeantsclzased on sex.
None of the actions in the record indicate that a decisiormm&ieed substantial reliance on
Plaintiff's sex when making a decision regarding the terms, conditions, ahssipor privileges
of her employment, because the one piece of evidence involving Plaitigffstatement to her by
Greg Kirtley that she cad “go buck naked if that will help* contains no indication of sebased
discrimination or animusSee Walderl26 F.3d at 51:34. Moreover, even if it could reasonably
be interpreted in such a fashion, the comment constitutes no more than a stray reshateduor
a contested employment decisiaee, e.g.Fakete 308 F.3d at 3338 n.2, 33H0, and cannot
fairly be said to directly reflect a sdvased reason for adverse employment action taken against
Plaintiff, Fakete 308 F.3d at 339.

Plaintiff has also failed to establish her deased discrimination and disparate treatment
claims undeMcDonnell Douglaecause she has not made out the necegearg faciecase.
The elements of thaerima faciecase are the same as those for Plaintiff's-tased discrimination
and disparate treatment claimsmembership, qualification, adverse employment action, and
circumstances that could give rise to an inference of intentional dieation. Mande| 706 F.3d

at 167 (citations omitted) Defendant takeshé same position on these claims as it does on
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Plaintiff's racebased ones it assumes Plaintiff can establish the first two elements, but argues
she cannot satisfy the latter two because, in addition to its criticisms of enewi(noted above),
“shecannot identify any adverse employment action taken against her, nor can bhsheata
causal connection between the only adverse employment action in this[basgjtermination-
and her membership in a protected categdfy(D.I. 65 at 17-18).

As to adverse employment actions taken against her, Plaintiff alleges manygaibas
for her racebased claims that her pay was withheld, her medical information was disclosed, she
was refused a list of open positions to wistle was entitled, she was directed to sign grievances
without a union representative present, she was subjected to unfair discipline, she was not
promoted, and she was terminated. (D.l. 62 { 63). Additionally, Plaintiff altageshe and
other femaleemployees were subjected to repeated “sexual commént@id.). As already
discussed, however, of the overlapping alleged adverse employment actions]aontijf'$
termination qualifies as suclsee supra The one additional alleged adverse empleynaction
— that she and other female employees were subjected to repeated “sexual commgifess
from the same defects as the bafkhe others: to the extent that such actions occurred, Plaintiff
has presented no evidence indicating that they caused a significant change its. b&wesf
Sherrod 57 F. App’x at 75. Thus, Plaintiff is again left with one adverse employment action

termination.

18 The Gurt again notes that Defendant’s rebuttal that the alleged supervisor caideent

not relate to any conduct allegedly directed to Plaintiff” misappreheredsetbvant
guestion undeMcDonnell Douglas See supraote 16.
19 Plaintiff's allegation thaemployees were physically separated according to race does not
relate to her sebased claims; thus, the Court does not discuss it here.
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Again, however, none of the events surrounding Plaintiff's termination givearisa t
inference of aex-based motive for that action or provide any other basis from which a reasonable
factfinder could infer that her termination was motivated by intentional dis@aiion based on
sex. The record is devoid of any indication that tangible employment sigtiene made on the
basis of sex and, moreover, it is again unclear from Plaintiff's Complaintswe¥img Brief that
Plaintiff alleges her termination was animated by sexual discriminati&eeD(l. 62 1 62 (listing
“Defendant’s discriminatory acts” ambt mentioning her termination); D.I. 71 at-18 (listing
Plaintiff's purported evidence of sex discrimination and not mentioning her teromj))at

Thus, Plaintiff has failed to make outpama faciecase of discrimination or disparate
treatment baskon sex under Title VII or the DDEZ.

Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's Title arid
DDEA discrimination and disparate treatment claims based on sex.

4. Hostile Work Environment Claims

Defendant also argues that Pldfig Title VII and DDEA hostile work environment
claims ‘must be dismissed because [she] identifies nothing more than a series ofl isolate
statements that are not discriminatory in nature, most of which were not reporetandant]
so they could be irestigated and remediated” and the “one statement that was reported was
immediately addressed and no further harassment is alleged to have octermesregdial action
was taken.” (D.l. 65 at 1).

To address this aspect of the Motion, the Court imsstresolve the discrepancy between
these initial statements, Defendant’s related substantive argument, andfBlaictiifal claims.

Defendant’s initial statements are broad and appear to seek summary judgraknf Plaintiff's

20 In light of this ruling, the Court need not address Defendant’s alternative
“Faragher/Ellerti defense here.
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hostile workplace laims. (Id.). Defendant’s substantive argument, however, addresses only
“racial and sexual harassment.Segid. at 1820; D.l. 76 at 910 (“Argument V of Defendant’s
Opening Brief established that Plaintiff's hostile [work] environment ddased on race and sex
fail ... .)) Plaintiff's Complaint, on the third hand, asserts hostile workplace claims based on
retaliation as well as race and sex discrimination. (D.l. 62 § 66 (allegteglisting Defendant’s
allegedly discriminatory and retaliatory conduct, that “Defendant’s condast severe and
pervasive, substantially altered the terms and conditionsiedf pmployment, and created a
working environment so hostile that no reasonable employee would tolerate it,” Withiting
the allegation to any specific form of prohibited activity)).

Moreover, the Third Circuit allows hostile work environmentrasunder Title VII for all
three forms of conductkee, e.g. Komis v. Sec’y of United Sates Dept. of |.&i& F.3d 289
(3d Cir. 2019) (retaliation)Mande| 706 F.3d at 1670 (sex);Caver v. City of Trentqr420 F.3d
243, 26265 (3d Cir. 2005) (race)nd courts are restricted from granting summary judgreeat
spontewithout giving notice to the potentially losing side and allowing them a reasonabl®time
respond.Forrest v. Parry 930 F.3d 93, 1121 (3d Cir. 2019) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 56®ibson
v. Mayor & Council of City of Wilmingtqor855 F.3d 215, 222 (3d Cir. 2004)). Thus, the Court
considers the Motion to extend only to Plaintiff's (i) racial and (ii) sexuallaesbrk environment

claims, not her retaliatory hostile work environmeairols2*

21 Additionally, in light of the fact that Plaintiff does not separately articulagebtsis for

her hostile workplace claims in her Answering Brief, the fact that the summapygnd
standard favors Plaintifisee, e.g.Reeves530 U.S. at 150and the abse relationship
between her discrimination and hostile workplace claims, the Court apbdiesifs
asserted “direct evidence” of race and sex discrimination to the hostile wor&renent
standards.
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a. Hostile Work Environment Based On Race

To survive summary judgment on her hostile work environment claims, Plaintiff mus
establish: (a) she suffered intentiodedcriminationbecause of her membership in a protected
class; (b) the discrimination was severe or pervasive; (c) the discriminatiimehtally affected
her; (d) the discrimination would detrimentally affect a reasonable persde inilcumstances;
and (e) Defendant is liable for the discrimination she suffered under the doctrespohdeat
superior. Mande| 706 F.3d at 167ensen v. PotteA35 F.3d 444, 449 (3d Cir. 2006), overruled
in part on other grounds Burlington N, 548 U.S. 53.

In determining whther Plaintiff has satisfied these requirements, the Court must consider
the totality of the circumstances, including “the frequency of the distaiioiy condugtits
severity whether it is physically threatening bumiliating, ora mere offensive utteance and
whether it reasonably interferes with [her] work performant@Re Tribune Media Cp902F.3d
384, 399 (quotingdarris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 23 (1998 “[S]imple teasing, offhand
comments, and isolated incidents (unless extremely serious) will not amountrioidistory
changes in the terms and conditions of employmelRaifagher v. City of Boca Ratpbs24 U.S.
775, 755 (1998).

Moreover, workplace hassment “is not automatically discrimination . . . [within the
meaning of Title VII] merely because the words used have [certain] content artaioms”;
“[tlhe critical issue . . . is whether members of one [protected group] are expmsed t
disadvantagags terms or conditions of employment to which members of [another group] are not
exposed.”Oncale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs.,,I523 U.S. 75, 881 (1998) (internal citations
omitted). Title VII “forbids only behavior so objectively offensive as to dher‘conditions’ of
the victim’s employment.”ld. Additionally, the last elemenrtemployer liability— “depends on

whether the harasser is the victsmsupervisor or merely a coworkerHuston v. Procter &
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Gamble Paper Prods568 F.3d 100, 104 (3d Cir. 2009) (citiRgrkins v. Civil Constructors of
lll., Inc., 163 F.3d 1027, 1032 (7th Cir. 1998)jthe harasser is merely a coworkebility only
attaches to the employer if that employer “failed to provide a reasonablgedeerromplaint qr
alternatively, if the employer knew or should have known of the harassment and fad&e to t
prompt and appropriate remedial actiomd’ at 104 (citations omitted). “Where the harasser is a
supervisorand the victim suffered no tangible employmentiae, [however,] an employer is
strictly liable” unless they can establish an affirmative defeRseking 163 F.3d at 1032 (citing
Faragher, 524 U.Sat807);see also Faragheb24 U.S. at 807-08.

Plaintiff offers two sets of evidence that supgaat racially hostile workplace claims: her
EEOC charges and the deposition testimony and affidavits of four former cowdtiaiesctively,
they indicate that supervisors at the Clayton Plaalied black employee$black as a namé,
(D.I. 71 Ex. BY 16, said“blackpeopleare‘lazy and ‘only play basketball; (id.), “g[a]ve black
employees worse jobs(id.), used racial slurs for African American(®.l. 71 Ex. A § 4, Ex. F at
2), and gavenon-African American employeeknger break times whilshortening those of
African Americanemployees (D.l. 72 Ex. H) Seesupra Two former employeedurther
indicated that general favoritism existed in the Clayton Plant against Africeeni¢ans.(ld.; see
alsoD.l. 71 Ex. F at 2; D.I. 78 C60C61 (Joseph Deposition at 22% — 2302)). Based on this
evidence, a reasonable jury could find that Plaintiff, alongside others, sufferedomagént
pervasive racial discrimination, and, therefore, has satisfied the firgiéments of a hostile work
environment claim. Plaintiff's multiple EEOC charges on the topic, her call teMvae
regarding raciatiscrimination (evidenced in the January 2016 Charge), and her complaints to
fellow employees satisfy the third element for summary judgment purposesy aethenstrate

that the discrimination had a detrimental impact on her. Additionally, the contspbdimer fellow
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employees, such as Valerie Savage and Fred Williamson, sufficienthestuthat the same
discrimination would detrimentally impact a reasonable person in like circurastarmally, the
EEOC charges and statements of Plaintiff's coworkers also sufficiedilyate that supervisors
at the Clayton Plant, rather than fellow reupervisory employees, perpetrated the discrimination.
Based on this evidence, a reasonable jury could find that Defendant is kafdddly Thus, Plaintiff
hassubmitted sufficient evidence to establish a genuine issue of materia@dacoding her hostile
workplace claim based on race.

Defendant argues, however, that it is nevertheless entitled to summary judgienthe
FaragheVEllerth doctrine. Pursuant to that doctrine, summary judgment is appropriate
notwithstanding the sufficiency of Plaintiff's evidence if no “tangible emplent action” has
been taken against Plaintiff, Defendant exercised reasonable care to preventrgsity gorrect
harassmentnd Plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of those preventative orwerrecti
opportunities to otherwise avoid harrraragher, 524 U.S. 805Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742see also
Clegg v. Falcon Plastics, Incl74 F. App’x 18, 226 (3d Cir. 2006).Defendant argues that the
doctrine is satisfied here because it addressed Plaintiff's complaints in 2@bbsive pursued
them internally and Plaintiff failed to take advantage of the same renfedibe alleged harms
that underlie her instant hostieorkplace claims based on racéD.l. 65 at 20; D.I. 76 at 30
Plaintiff counters that “she filed multiple grievances, three discrimination ebargpeecorded
a phone call to H.R., and made several calls to the CEQ”; “[m]ultiple witnedsbéissed that

H.R. and management would simply ignore discrimination complaints”; and “Defendan® has
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documentation related to its actions following [her] complaint, and is unable¢id¢olate any
action it actually took.?? (D.I. 72 at 23-24).

The Court agrees with Plaintiff and cannot say, as a matter of law, that Defprelails
on this affirmative defense at this stagEaragherEllerth requires, as noted, that Defendant
establish that it exercised reasonable care to prevent and promptly corresinbatasnd that
Plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantagjeany preventative or corrective opportunities
provided by Defendant to otherwise avoid hattng, Faragher, 524 U.S. 805. Reasonableness,
however, “is a paradigm question of fac@legg 174 F. App’x at 26, and material facts remain in
dispute: altbugh Defendant’s representatives met with Plaintiff regarding seottadr early
complaints and took steps to address those complaints, the deposition testimony awvits affida
Plaintiff has presented indicate that H.R. and management at the Claytoing@jaently ignored
complaints regarding race discrimination. In such an environment, it is not unreastwaable
Plaintiff failed to take advantage of preventative or corrective opportunitiesdprbvy
Defendant, as they had frequently failed for heewarkers who pursued issugisilar to the one
at hand.

Thus, Plaintiff has showtihatgenuine issues of material fawotistas to her Title VII and
DDEA racebased hostile work environment claims and Defendant is not entitled to summary

judgment on them.

22 Plaintiff further argues that her terminati@md assignment to worse jobs constitute
“discrete employment actions, as opposed to mere harassment- fir@sumably —
constitute “tangible employment action” and thereby shiocuit any FaraghevEllerth
defense. (D.l. 71 at 225). It is unclear whether a termination by another supervisor for
reasons unrelated to the basis of a hostile workplace claim qualify as léegmmibloyment
action” undeiFaragherEllerth; however, because the Court rules that Defendant has failed
to satisfy the affirmative @fense for other reasons, it does not address this issue.
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b. Hostile Work Environment Based On Sex

The same standards described for Plaintiff's hostile work environment claied das
race apply to her hostile work environment claims based ossexe.gMandel| 706 F.3d at 167
—she must establish that she suffered intentional discrimination as a resuli@rhbership in a
protected class that was severe or pervasive, detatheraffected her, and would have
detrimentally affected a reasonable person in like circumstances, and Déferdate for that
discrimination. Id.

The relevant evidence Plaintiff has put forward, as described in relation taxHesss=l
discrimination and disparate treatment claims, does not indicate that she sufferadnakent
discrimination based on her sefee supra At most, it indicates that two other Clayton Plant
employees were subjected to potentially harassing sexual conductansihehwas subjected to
such harassment or that a pattern of such conduct existed at the Clayton Plalairly Sine
affidavit statement that attractive young female employees were allowed tt@aWgg with
anything” does not indicate that Plaintiff, ais also a female, was treated differently based on
her sex. Finally, as already discussdthough the statement from Greg Kirtley to Defendant that
she could “go buck naked if that will help” could be interpreted as connoting sex, it gives no
indication that Plaintiff was exposed tdisadvantageous terms or conditions of employment to
which members of the other sex are not.” Thus, it cannot reasonably be interpretedrasngyvide
intentional discrimination that was pervasive or sev€acale 523 U.S. at 80-81.

Accordingly, Plaintiff has not shown the existence of a genuine issue afiahédet for
her Title VIl and DDEA sesbased hostile work environment claimmad Defendant is entitled to

summary judgment on them.
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B. EMLA

Finally, Defendanargues that it is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's (1) FMLA
interference claim and (2) FMLA retaliation claim, (D.l. 65 at2H), both of which are based on
her alleged right to FMLA leave beyond December 19, 2017 and her allegetgbtato inwke
that right,2® (D.1. 62 {1 79-97).

1. FEMLA Interference Claim

To make out a claim of FMLA interference, Plaintiff must show: (a) she wasligible
employee under the FMLA”"; (b) Defendant “was an employer subject to MEAB
requirements”; (c) she “was entitled to FMLA leave”; (d) she gave notice to Deteoldhar
intention to take or continue FMLA leave; and (e) she was “denied benefits to whejhwas
entitled under the FMLA.”Ross v. Gilhuly755 F.3d 185, 1992 (3d Cir. 2014). Nevertless,

a claim for interference should be characterized as a retaliation claim iflistastively identical

to a retaliation claim, in that it speaks in terms of discrimination and/or retaliation aedisgd

on the allegation that the employer t@akverse employment action against the employee because
she requested or took FMLA leavAtchison v. Sear$66 F. Supp. 2d 477, 488 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 7,
2009) see alsaConoshenti v. Pub. Serv. Elec. & Gas 364 F.3d 135, 147 (3d Cir. 2004).

Defendant contends that Plaintiff's interference claim should be treated adiatioet
claim because “Plaintiff's explanation of her [interference] claim shoasiths in form and
substance a retaliation claim.” (D.l. 76 at 14). The Court disagfemtiff's Answering Brief
lays out the requirements for both FMLA interference and retaliation. (D.l. 7118)18t then
goes on to argue that Defendant failed to provide sufficient notice of the consequences of

submitting proper paperwork, Defendant failed to be responsive to Plaintiff' sapgestigarding

23 It is undisputed tha®laintiff was entitled to FMLA leave up ecember 19, 2017.
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how paperwork should be submitted, and temporal proximity is sufficient to establestd@ef's
retaliatory motive?* (D.l. 71 at 1923). Although Plaintiff does not state which of thegpiarents
relate to her retaliation claim versus her interference claim, the first—twmwtice and
responsiveness relate directly to at least the fourth element of an interference claim (naride)
have little bearing on a retaliation claim, for whidaiRtiff must only show that she invoked her
right to leave and suffered an adverse employment action causally related io/dication,
Hansler v. Lehigh Valley Hosp. NetwpfKO8 F.3d 149, 1589 (3d Cir. 2015). Additionally,
unlike her retaliation claim, Plaintiff's interference claim contains no mentioteaihtnation,”

“retaliation,” “discrimination,” or like terms and concept<ofnpareD.l. 62 {1 7986 with D.l.
62 11 9295). Thus, Plaintiffs FMLA interference claim is and will be treatedramterference
claim.

As to the merits of Plaintiff's FMLA interference claim, Defendant does notesb the
first two elements- that Plaintiff was an eligible employee under the FMLA or that it is an
employer subject to the FMLA. (D.l. 65 at-24). The Court, therefore, only assesses whether
genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether Plaintiff has sufficiesidplished the
remaining three elements: that she was entitled to FMLA leave after Decembéi1719gave
notice to Defendant of her intent to continue her FMLA leave beyond that date, and wds denie
benefits to which she was entitleRoss 755 F.3d at 191-92.

First, genuine issues of material fact exist as to the entitlement element. Altmeugh
initial FMLA physician form “sates that Plaintiff would not ‘need to attend folloyy treatment

m

appointments or work patime or on a reduced schedule because of her medical conditions™ and

24 Plaintiff also argues that Defendant failed to properly request recatitificof her leave
(D.I. 71 at 2622). It is unclear to the Court how that argument is relevant to these claims;
thus, it does not consider it here.
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that her condition “would not cause ‘episodic flare-ups’ preventing her from perfohmirjgb,”

(D.I. 65 at 21), that same FMLA physician form also states that the probable durdiambff’'s
condition was “812 weeks” (which would indicate an ending date of January or February 2018),
that Plaintiff was to “remain out of work until-evaluged 1219-2017,” and that the “129-
2017” “ending date” for her period of incapacity was simply an “estimatel. §D.at A63, A69

70). Additionally, after her revaluation, Plaintiff's physician completed another form stating
that she should continue to abstain from work for at least another two weeks. (D.l. 72 Ex. K).

Genuine issues of material fact also exist regarding the notice element. ifich€ifduit
has explained that an employee is obligated “to provide sufficient information for@oyer to
reasonably determine whether the FMLA may apply to the leave request,” bdtrfaeprovide
every detail necessary for the employer to verify if the FMLA appliéschtenstein vUPMC,

691 F.3d 294, 3084 (3d Cir. 2012) (citations omitted). tRar, the “critical test” is “how the
information conveyed to the employer is reasonably interpreteld(titations omitted).

Here, Defendant did not receive Plaintiff'seealuation paperwork until January 10, 2018,
twenty-one days after her initidéave expired and twelve days after Defendant terminated her
employment. (D.l. 78 at C323). Plaintiff, however, argues that she left a voicemail with
Defendant’'s H.R. department on December 22, 2017 “asking for the right fax number to send
extension paperwork” and then spoke to Shivonne Urbano, her H.R. representative, on
Decembel6, 2017 regarding the same issue. (D.l. 65 €232 The content of the voicemall
and call are disputed, but Plaintiff testified to her version of events in her depogiee, e.g.

D.l. 73 Ex. J at 145 (Plaintiff Deposition Transcript at 22921)), and her termination letter,
which references both the voicemail and the call, does not contradisedD (. 67 at A74).

Additionally, as already noted, Plaintiffisitial FMLA physician form states that her condition
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would likely persist for 82 weeks, that she would be-eealuated four weeks later, on
Decemberd9, 2017, and that December 19, 2017 was only an “estimate” of the date by which she
would be fit for work. (D.l. 67 at A63, A6%0). Thus, there is a genuine issue of material fact
regarding the notice requirement.

Lastly, there is a genuine issue of material fact regarding the fifth elentlest Plaintiff
was denied benefits to which she was entitlBthintiff's termination is sufficient to evidence a
denial of benefits at this stade Lichtenstein691 F.3d at 312.

Thus, Defendant is not entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiffs FMLA intextere
claim.

2. FMLA Retaliation Claim

To state a claimar FMLA retaliation, Plaintiff must prove that: (a) “she invoked her right
to leave”; (b) “she suffered an adverse employment decision”; and (c) “the adversewagio
causally related to her invocation of rightsHansler, 798 F.3dat 15859. FMLA retaliation
claims may beanalyzed undethe McDonnell Douglasburdenshifting frameworkdescribed

supra Ross 755 F. 3d at 193 Thus, the first question is whether Plaintiff has made puinza

25 The Court finds no need dii$ time to address Plaintiff's argument that Defendant’s failure

to provide notice constituted an interference with her right to FMLA leave. (D.l.I& at

20). Her termination is sufficient.
26 It is unclear whether FMLA retaliation may also be established uAdee Waterhouse
“mixed motive” standard.Compare Egan851 F.3d at 275 (“[W]e hold that the DOL’s
use of a mixednotive framework . . . is a permissible construction of the statute.
Therefoe, [the DOL’s statute allowing a mixedotive approach] is entitled to deference
underChevron and a mixednotive jury instruction is available for FMLA retaliation
claims.”), with id. at 282 (“Were we free to actually interpret the law rather than merely
defer to an executive agency, we might well conclude that the FMLA doedavofal a
mixed-motive instruction for [this] retaliation claim.” (Jordan, J., concurrinddgcause
these claims survive summary judgment undeDonnell Douglashowever, theCourt
neednotaddresshe questiornere
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facie case of FMLA retaliation; the secomlwhether Defendant has set forth a legitimate; non
discriminatory reason for the termination; and the third is whether Plaintiff ¢abliss that
Defendant’s asserted reason is pretextldl. As already discusseslipraregarding Plaintiff's
Title VIl and DDEAretaliation clains, however, both Defendant’s reason for terminating Plaintiff
— her failure “to return to work or submit additional medical documentation extendirigaver
beyond its expiration,” (D.l. 65 at 24)and Plaintiff's pretext edence are sufficient for those
respective steps at this stage. Thus, the only question is whether Plaintifideasuna sufficient
prima faciecase of FMLA retaliation to avoid summary judgment.

She has. As already explairegpraregarding her FMLAnterference claim, Plaintiff has
presented evidence indicating that she had a right to FMLA leave after DecemBéd 1%nd
invoked that right. Additionally, termination is an “adverse employment decidiebgon 503
F.3d at 232 & n.9, and the temporal proximity between Plaintiff's notice of her intent taw®nti
her FMLA leave and her subsequent terminati@ix days— constitutes “unusually suggestive”
timing that is sufficient to evidence a causal relationship between the twis stafjesee, .,
Lichtenstein691 F.3d at 307 (six days deemed sufficiela)ij v. Avdel Corp.873 F.2d 701, 708
(3d Cir. 1989) (two days deemed sufficient).

Thus, Defendant is not entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff's FMLA retaliation
claim.

V. CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on Plaintiff
discrimination and disparate treatment claims based on race and sex, and'$tzstife work

environment claims based on sex. It is not entitled to summudgynent onany of Plaintiff’s
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other claims Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment is therefore GRANTSEHPART and
DENIED-IN-PART.

An appropriate order will be entered.
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